IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA : CIVIL ACTION NO. 11-2411
V.
GIACAMO RANDAZZO CRIMINAL ACTION NO. 06-288
MEMORANDUM
Padova, J. May 6, 2011

Defendant Giacamo Randazzo hasfiled aMotion to V acate Sentence pursuant to 28 U.S.C.
§ 2255, in which he asks that we vacate his December 2007 sentence and restructure the sentence
inaway that will not result in his mandatory deportation as an aggravated felon. The Government
argues that Randazzo’'s Motion should be denied because he waived his right to collaterally
challenge his conviction and sentence, his Motion isuntimely, and/or the claims are meritless. We
held an evidentiary hearing on March 29, 2011, and April 7, 2011, after which the parties submitted
proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law. For the following reasons, we deny now
Randazzo’'s Motion.
I BACKGROUND

Randazzo was charged in a six-count Indictment with one count of conspiracy to commit
interstate transportation of stolen property inviolation of 18 U.S.C. 8 371, and five counts of receipt
and possession of astolen motor vehicleinviolation of 18 U.S.C. 8 2314. The charges arose out of
Randazzo’ s participation in aconspiracy which lasted from November 1998 to September 2004, and
involved the theft and transport of at |east twenty pieces of heavy equipment, motor vehicles and/or
trailers from businesses in Pennsylvania, New Jersey and Maryland.

On February 26, 2007, Randazzo entered aguilty pleato al six counts of the Indictment. In

his Guilty Plea Agreement, Randazzo agreed that, with limited exceptions, he would neither appeal



nor collateraly chalenge his conviction or sentence. (Plea Agrmt.  10)

We held a change of plea hearing on February 26, 2007. At that hearing, we questioned
Randazzo regarding hiswillingnessto enter into, and understanding of, the Guilty Plea Agreement,
and found that he was competent to plead, that his guilty plea was voluntary, and that there was a
factual basisfor theguilty plea. (N.T. 2/26/07 at 20-21.) Beforethe entry of the plea, the Assistant
United States Attorney also asked that we “point out that thereis apossible collateral consequence
here regarding [ Randazzo’ s| immigration status, deportation, which is something that is unrelated
to what the Government’ s charged here, but it is a possible consequence that he could suffer from
entering aplea” (Id. at 18-19). Inresponseto that request, we advised Randazzo that “[t]hereisa
possible consequence that would or could affect your immigration status here in this country, that
would follow from a conviction or from a guilty pleain this case.” (Id. at 19.) We then asked
Randazzo if he understood that instruction, and Randazzo responded “yes.” (Id.)

We sentenced Randazzo on November 27, 2007. Prior to the sentencing hearing, Randazzo
obtained new defense counsel, and the new counsel represented him at sentencing. Asset forthin
the Presentence Report, Randazzo had atotal offense level of 22 and a Crimina History Category
of 1, which gaveriseto an Advisory Guideline Range of 41-51 months.! Defense counsel stated the

following on the record regarding the prospect of deportation:

'Randazzo’ s base offense level was 6 pursuant to U.S.S.G. § 2B1.1. The base level was
increased by 14 levels pursuant to U.S.S.G. § 2B1.1(b)(1)(H), because the attempted |oss was more
than $400,000, but lessthan $1,000,000. The adjusted baselevel wasincreased by 2 level s pursuant
to U.S.S.G. § 2B1.1(b)(2)(A), because the offense involved more than 10 but less than 50 victims.
The adjusted base level was increased again by 2 pursuant to U.S.S.G. § 2B1.1(b)(4), because the
offenseinvolved receiving stolen property. Finally, Randazzo’ s offenselevel wasreduced by 2 for
acceptance of responsibility pursuant to U.S.S.G. 8 3E1.1(a), resulting in a Total Offense Level of
22,



| first and foremost liketo statethat my client, regardless of whatever
sentence your Honor imposes, will suffer in ways that are not
contemplated by individuals who commit crimes, not contemplated
by the guidelines, and although they may be caled collateral or
administrative penalties, they are neverthel ess penalties that will be
suffered by my client. Andthefirst and mostimportant, | think, isthe
fact that he more likely, aimost definitely will be deported as aresult
of his guilty plea, and the sentence that your Honor imposes and he
will thereby lose the affections, and daily support, and contact with,
and physical contact with al of the people in this room.

(N.T. 12/27/07 at 76.) We asked the Government to comment, and the Government stated:
He' salega permanent resident. He' s been in the country for -- over
20years.? It isquestionablewhether hewill be deported or not. That
is certainly not within [the purview of] the Department of Justice, it
is with the immigration authorities but there is some question |
understand. So but that’ s not something that wetakepartin. Andit’s
not automatic, | would say to the Court from what | have learned.

(Id. at 80-81 (footnote added).)

Although Randazzo’ scounsel asked that we vary downward and impose abel ow-Guidelines
sentence, we imposed a sentence of 41 months imprisonment on each of the six Counts of the
Indictment, to be served concurrently. Thejudgment was entered on December 4, 2007. Defendant
did not appeal his conviction and sentence, and the judgment became final on December 18, 2007.
More than three years later, on January 27, 2011, when he was nearing the end of his federal
sentence, Defendant filed the instant Motion to Vacate Sentence pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2255.
Approximately onemonth later, on March 1, 2011, Randazzo’ sfederal sentence expired. Randazzo

wastransferred to the custody of Immigration and Customs Enforcement (*ICE”), based onaNotice

to Appear, which asserted that he was subject to mandatory deportation, because he qualified asan

?In fact, Defendant is a 58 year old citizen of Italy, who immigrated to the United Statesin
1978, at the age of 26. Hehaslivedin New Jersey ever sinceand isofficially classified asa“Legal
Permanent Resident Alien.”



aggravated felon. To date, Randazzo remains in ICE custody at the Seneca County jail in Tiffin,
Ohio.

Inthe meantime, on March 15, 2011, the Government filed itsresponseto Randazzo’ s § 2255
Motion, and Randazzo filed areply brief on March 21, 2011. We held hearings on the Motion on
March 29, 2011, and April 7, 2011, and the partiesfiled post-hearing submissionson April 22, 2011.
. LEGAL STANDARD

Randazzo has moved for relief pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 8 2255, which provides as follows:

A prisoner in custody under sentence of acourt established by Act of

Congress claiming the right to be released upon the ground that the

sentence was imposed in violation of the Constitution or laws of the

United States, or that the court was without jurisdiction to impose

such sentence, or that the sentence was in excess of the maximum

authorized by law, or is otherwise subject to collateral attack, may

move the court which imposed the sentence to vacate, set aside or

correct the sentence.
28 U.S.C. §2255(a). “In order to prevail on a Section 2255 motion, the movant’ s claimed errors of
law must be constitutional, jurisdictional, ‘a fundamental defect which inherently results in a

complete miscarriage of justice,” or *an omission inconsistent with the rudimentary demands of fair

procedure.’” United Statesv. Perkins, Crim. A. No. 03-303, 2008 WL 399336, a *1 (E.D. Pa. Feb.

14, 2008) (quoting Hill v. United States, 368 U.S. 424, 428 (1962)).

The United States Court of Appealsfor the Third Circuit has held that awaiver of appellate
or collatera rightsisenforceable provided that (1) it wasentered into knowingly and voluntarily; (2)
no specific exception set forth in the agreement applies; and (3) enforcement of the waiver would

not work a miscarriage of justice. United States v. Goodson, 544 F.3d 529, 536 (3d Cir. 2008)

(citing United States v. Jackson, 523 F.3d 234, 243-44 (3d Cir. 2008)); see also United States v.

Khattak, 273 F.3d 557, 562-63 (3d Cir. 2001); United States v. Shedrick, 493 F.3d 292, 297-98 (3d
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Cir. 2007). To evaluate whether enforcement of awaiver would result in amiscarriage of justice, the
Third Circuit has suggested a number of factors that may be considered, including: “‘the clarity of
the error, its gravity, its character . . . , the impact of the error on the defendant, the impact of
correcting the error on the government, and the extent to which the defendant acquiesced in the

result.” Khattak, 273 F.3d at 563 (quoting United States v. Teeter, 257 F.3d 14, 25-26 (1st Cir.

2001)).
Circumstancesin which an error amountsto amiscarriage of justiceareunusual,” Khattak,
273 F.3d at 562, and the “ miscarriage of justice” exception must be** applied sparingly and without

undue generosity.”” United Statesv. Wilson, 429 F.3d 455, 458 (3d Cir. 2005) (quoting Teeter, 257

F.3d at 26). Indeed, the Third Circuit has recognized: “*Waiver would be nearly meaninglessif it
included only those appeal s that border on the frivolous. . .. While it may appear unjust to allow
criminal defendants to bargain away meritorious appeals, such is the necessary consequence of a
system in which the right to appeal may be freely traded.”” Khattak, 273 F.3d at 561-62 (quoting

United States v. Howle, 166 F.3d 1166, 1169 (11th Cir. 1999)).

1. DISCUSSION

In the § 2255 Motion, Randazzo argues that his sentencing counsel was constitutionally
ineffective, because counsel failed to advise Randazzo that hisdeportation would only be mandatory
if hewere sentenced to oneyear or more of imprisonment on any single count of the Indictment, and
failed to advocate for a series of consecutive, shorter sentences, which would result in deportation

being discretionary.® Hefurther arguesthat his sentence viol ated due process because the court was

3Under 8 U.S.C. § 1101(a)(43)(G), a defendant who is convicted of “a theft offense
(including the receipt of stolen property)” and is sentenced for that particular offense to aterm of
imprisonment of more than one year, has been convicted of an“aggravated felony.” Under 8 U.S.C.
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under amisapprehension of thefacts and law regarding deportation, and that his sentencing counsel
wasineffectiveinfailingto advise Randazzo that he had aright to appeal hissentenceon that basis.*

Asnoted above, the Government argues, among other things, that Randazzo waived hisright
to assert these claims pursuant to the collateral attack waiver in hisguilty plea. The PleaAgreement
provided, and Defendant agreed, as follows:

In exchangefor the undertakings made by the government in entering
this plea agreement, the defendant voluntarily and expressly waives
all rights to appeal or collaterally attack the defendant’ s conviction,
sentence, or any other matter relating to this prosecution, whether
such aright to appeal or collateral attack arises under 18 U.S.C. 8§
3742,28 U.S.C. §1291, 28 U.S.C. § 2255, or any other provision of
law. Thiswaiver isnot intended to bar the assertion of constitutional
clams that the relevant case law holds cannot be waived.

§1227(a)(2)(iii), “any alien who is convicted of an aggravated felony at any time after admissionis
deportable.” In aggravated felony cases, deportation is mandatory. See Jeunev. Att'y Gen., 476
F.3d 199, 201 (3d Cir. 2007). In contrast, where a defendant has been convicted of atheft offense
for which the sentence imposed is|ess than one year, heisnot deemed to have been convicted of an
“aggravated felony,” see generaly 8 U.S.C. § 1101(1)(43)(G) (including requirement that sentence
be one year or more), and he is eligible to apply for a cancellation of removal under 8 U.S.C. §
1229b(a). See generally Nugent v. Ashcroft, 367 F.3d 162, 169 (3d Cir. 2004). Moreover, one
district court has held that whether adefendant was sentenced to aterm of imprisonment of one year
or moreis ascertained on a count-by-count basis. See United Statesv. Shaw, Crim A. No. 99-525,
Civ. A.No. 03-6759, 2004 WL 1858336, *10-11 (E.D. Pa. Aug. 11, 2004). Thus, Randazzo argues,
he could have escaped mandatory deportationif the Court had imposed the same 41-month sentence,
but structured it as severa shorter sentences of imprisonment, running consecutively, rather than
imposing concurrent 41-month sentences on each of the six counts of the Indictment. Specificaly,
Randazzo argues that the Court could have sentenced him to “an eleven month term on one count
and five ten month terms on the other counts — three of them concurrent to the eleven months and
to one another, and two concurrent — [Randazzo’ s| deportation would not have been mandatory.”
(Def.’ sMem. in Aid of Preliminary Determination under 8 2255 (“Def.’s Mem.”) at 4.)

“In his Motion, Randazzo also asserted claims (1) that his plea counsel was ineffective for
failing to advise him of the immigration consequences of the plea or to seek plea agreement terms
that would protect Randazzo from automatic deportation, and (2) that hisguilty pleawasinvoluntary
on account of the Court’s failure to advise him of the immigration consequences of the plea.
Randazzo, however, withdrew these two claims at our April 7, 2011 hearing. (N.T. 4/7/11 at 19;
see also Def.’ s Proposed Findings of Fact, 129.)
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(Guilty Plea Agreement 10.) Notwithstanding thiswaiver, the Plea Agreement permits Randazzo
certain specific appellaterights. (Id.) First, it permits him to file adirect appeal of his sentence if
the Government appeal s the sentence. Second, even if the Government does not appeal, the Plea
Agreement permits Randazzo to file adirect appeal to raise the following limited claims: “(1) the
defendant's sentence on any count of conviction exceeds the statutory maximum for that count . . .
: (2) the sentencing judge erroneously departed upward pursuant to the Sentencing Guidelines; [or]
(3) thesentencing judge. . . imposed an unreasonabl e sentence abovethefina Sentencing Guideline
range determined by the Court.” (1d.)

Randazzo’ s counsel conceded at our April 7, 2011 hearing that Randazzo’ s guilty plea, as
well as the included waiver, was knowing and voluntary. (N.T. 4/7/11 at 10, 12, 15.). He aso
advances no argument that one of the specific exceptions to waiver in the Guilty Plea Agreement
applies. Instead, he argues that his knowing and voluntary waiver does not bar his current claims,

because enforcement of thewaiver would result in amiscarriage of justice.” See Goodson, 544 F.3d

°*Randazzo also periodically suggests that his claims cannot be waived because they are
constitutional claimsand the pleaagreement, in paragraph 10, statesthat the “waiver isnot intended
to bar the assertion of constitutional claimsthat therelevant caselaw holds cannot bewaived.” (See,
e.q., Def.’s Reply Br. at 19 (“*[T]he waiver can be read -- and therefore should beread . . . . -- to
exempt constitutional claimssuch asthevalidity of a sentenceimposed under amisapprehension of
fact and law or imposed without the effective assistance of counsel.”); N.T. 4/7/11 at 12 (arguing
that “you can’'t waive away your right to effective assistance of counsel”). However, Randazzo
points to no case law that holds that the constitutional claims that he has raised here cannot be
waived. Moreover, the case law is clear that claims concerning the ineffectiveness of sentencing
counsel arenot categorically outsidethe scope of an appellateand collateral attack waiver. See, e.q.,
United States v. Akbar, 181 F. App’'x 283, 287 (3d Cir. 2006) (stating that waiver does not
“‘becomg| ] unenforceable simply because adefendant claims. . . ineffective assistance’”) (quoting
United States v. Monzon, 359 F.3d 110, 118-19 (2d Cir. 2004)); United Statesv. Elliott, Crim. A.
No. 03-388, 2010 WL 2978024, at *9 (E.D. Pa. July 12, 2010) (stating that defendant may raise a
claim that counsel was ineffective in negotiating the plea agreement, but all other ineffectiveness
clams are waived). Accordingly, we reject Randazzo’'s argument that his claims are outside the
scope of hiswaiver simply by virtue of being constitutional .
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at 536 (setting forth miscarriage of justi ce exceptionto waiver) (citing Jackson, 523 F.3d at 243-44).
We find, however, that there is no injustice in enforcing the waiver under the circumstances
presented, both because the deportation consequences of Randazzo’ s conviction and sentence are
not unjust and because the claims Randazzo seeks to raise lack merit.

A. The Alleged I njustice of the Deportation Consequences

Randazzo essentially arguesthat it is unjust to subject him to mandatory deportation when
we had the discretion to sentence him in away that would leave his deportation to the discretion of
the immigration authorities. In Randazzo’s view, had his counsel advised us that the immigration
consequenceswould bemorefavorableto himif we sentenced himto aseries of shorter, consecutive
sentences (that added up to the same total sentence of 41 months), we would have structured the
sentence in that way.

As noted above, in ascertaining whether enforcement of a knowing and voluntary waiver

resultsin amiscarriage of justice, wemay consider: “‘theclarity of theerror, itsgravity, its character
..., theimpact of the error on the defendant, the impact of correcting the error on the government,
and the extent to which the defendant acquiesced in theresult.”” Khattak, 273 F.3d at 563 (quoting
Teeter, 257 F.3d at 25-26). Here, Randazzo does not contend that we erred in sentencing him to
concurrent sentences and, in fact, we did not err in that regard. Not only do “judges . . . retain
substantial discretion” whether to impose consecutive or concurrent sentences, but the general rule

isthat “ sentences imposed at the same time run concurrently unless a statute mandates or the court

orders otherwise.” United Statesv. Velasguez, 304 F.3d 237, 241 (3d Cir. 2002) (citing U.S.S.G.

§5G1.2and 18 U.S.C. §3584). Thus, therewas nothing improper about the sentence we imposed.

Randazzo neverthel essarguesthat our imposition of concurrent sentenceswas unjust because



the sentence will result in his mandatory deportation. See Jeune, 476 F.3d at 201. However,
Congress has unequivocally dictated that aggravated felons be deported. 8 U.S.C. § 1227(a)(2)(iii)
(“any alien who is convicted of an aggravated felony at any time after admission is deportable’); 8
U.S.C. § 1101(a)(43)(G) (stating that a defendant who is sentenced to a term of imprisonment of
more than one year for atheft offense has been convicted of an “aggravated felony”). While atheft
conviction may only qualify as an aggravated felony if it results in a sentence of one year or more
on any given count, itisinconceivablethat adefendant’ s mandatory deportation under the standards
set by Congressisamiscarriage of justicewhere, ashere, the defendant isconvicted of multipletheft
offenses, each of which givesrise to an Advisory Guideline range that well exceeds oneyear. To
the contrary, in our view, Randazzo's mandatory deportation is the consequence of his crimes that
Congress both anticipated and believed just.

It is also worth noting that thisis not a situation in which the structure of our sentence will
result in the deportation of an individual who, if sentenced to shorter, consecutive sentences, would
have an unequivocal right toremaininthiscountry. Indeed, even assuming arguendo that Randazzo
could both prevail on one of his habeas claims and persuade us at resentencing to reformulate his
sentence, he may very well be deported anyway; his deportation would simply be subject to the
discretion of the immigration authorities. See 8 U.S.C. 8§ 1229b(a) (providing that “the Attorney
General may cancel removal” for an individual who has been alawful permanent resident for more
than five years, has continuously resided in the United States for seven years, and has not been
convicted of an aggravated felony (emphasisadded)). Thus, theactual immigration *“impact” of our
imposition of concurrent sentencesis not that Randazzo will be deported; it isonly that hewill lose

theright to argueto theimmigration authoritiesthat he should not be deported, an argument that has



no guarantee of success.

Finally, we observe that the record is clear that when Randazzo pled guilty and waived any
right to collaterally attack his conviction and sentence, he acquiesced in the expected result that he
would be deported. His plea counsel testified at our March 29, 2011 hearing that he specifically
advised Randazzo several times prior to the plea hearing, that he would be deported if he could not
effectively cooperate with the Government. (N.T. 3/29/11 at 27 (“| spoke with [Randazzo] several
times saying that if you don’t cooperate you' re likely going to get a sentence that’ s going to require
that you be deported . . .”); id. at 28 (“| said to [Randazzo], he was going to get deported if he got
convicted unless he was a cooperation status.”); id. at 30 (“[I]t was clear to methat thistype of a41-
month range would expose Mr. Randazzo to deportation such that | made that clear to him.”). We
al so advised Randazzo during the plea hearing that hefaced the possibility of deportation. (SeeN.T.
2/26/07 at 18-19.) Accordingly, wefind that Randazzo knew that he would likely be deported asa
result of his conviction and sentence,® and he neverthel ess knowingly and voluntarily waived his
right to appeal or collaterally attack the very conviction and sentence that would trigger the
deportation. There is therefore no injustice in enforcing Randazzo’ s waiver to prohibit him from
making arguments that would only gain him the right to challenge the deportation that he expected
when he agreed to the collateral attack waiver in the first place.

For all of the above reasons, and bearing in mind our obligation to apply the miscarriage of

justice exception “ sparingly and without undue generosity,” Wilson, 429 F.3d at 458, we conclude

that there is no miscarriage of justice in enforcing Randazzo’s waiver of his right to collaterally

®Randazzo concedesthispoint, as he proposes asafinding of fact that “[b] ased on the advice
he received from [plea counsel], defendant Randazzo had no reason to think that his eventual
deportation was other than inevitable.” (Def.’s Proposed Finding of Fact, 1 16.)
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attack his conviction and sentence to prohibit the claims he asserts here, all of which are designed
to avoid his mandatory deportation.

B. The Merits of the Underlying Claims

We aso find that there is no miscarriage of justicein enforcing Randazzo’ s collateral attack
waiver because the three claims he seeks to raise in his habeas petition are meritless.’

1. Sentencing Counsel’s I neffectiveness

Asnoted above, Randazzo claimsthat he was subject to constitutionally deficient lawyering
at his sentencing, insofar as sentencing counsel did not adequately advise him regarding the risk of
deportation and potential ways to reduce that risk, and did not advise the court asto the controlling

law regarding deportation. In Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984), the United States

Supreme Court held that criminal defendants have a Sixth Amendment right to “reasonably

In addition to being meritless and waived, Randazzo's claims are untimely because he
asserted them over three years after hisconviction becamefina. See28 U.S.C. § 2255(f) (generally
requiring that 8§ 2255 petition befiled within oneyear of final judgment). Randazzo filed hisMotion
on January 27, 2011, well more than one year after his judgment of conviction became final on
December 18, 2007. Randazzo nevertheless argues that his claims fall within an exception to the
usual one-year statutethat providesthat the one-year time period does not beginto run until “thedate
on which the right asserted was initially recognized by the Supreme Court, if that right has been
newly recognized by the Supreme Court and made retroactively applicable to cases on collateral
review.” 28U.S.C. §2255(f)(3). In Randazzo'sview, hisclaimsrest on aright that the Supreme
Court newly recognized in Padilla v. Kentucky, 130 S. Ct. 1473 (2010), which was decided on
March 31, 2010. In Padilla, the Supreme Court held that a defense attorney’ s conduct falls below
an objective standard of reasonableness when the attorney failsto advise his noncitizen client, prior
to the client’ s acceptance of aplea, that the pleacarries arisk of deportation. 1d. at 1482-83, 1486.
Although Randazzo argues that his claims rest on the new right announced in Padilla, he does not
argue that his plea counsel was ineffective for failing to advise him that he could or would be
deported. Moreover, we reject Randazzo’ s suggestion that Padilla should be read more broadly to
create a general right to complete and accurate counseling at sentencing regarding the precise
immigration consequences of aconviction and sentence. Accordingly, we concludethat Randazzo’s
claims do not rest on aright that was newly recognized by the Supreme Court in Padilla. Under
these circumstances, even if he had not waived his right to raise the claimsin his plea agreement,
the claims would be untimely under the one year statute of limitationsin 28 U.S.C. § 2255(f).
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effective” legal assistance. 1d. at 687. To prove constitutionally inadequate representation, a
criminal defendant must demonstrate both that (1) hisattorney’ sperformancewasdeficient, i.e., that
the performance was unreasonable under prevailing professional standards, and (2) that he was
prejudiced by the attorney’ s performance. 1d. “A convicted defendant making aclaim of ineffective
assistance must identify the acts or omissions of counsel that are alleged not to have been the result
of reasonable professional judgment.” 1d. 466 U.S. at 690.

In order to show that counsel’ s performance was obj ectively unreasonabl e, adefendant must
show that hiscounsel made errors so seriousthat hewasnot “functioning asthe‘ counsel’ guaranteed
the defendant by the Sixth Amendment.” Strickland, 466 US. at 687. When “evaluating counsel’s
performance, we are ‘highly deferential’ and ‘indulge a strong presumption’ that, under the
circumstances, counsel’s challenged actions ‘might be considered sound . . . strategy.”” Buehl v.
Vaughn, 166 F.3d 163, 169 (3d Cir. 1999) (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689). Ultimately, “[t]he
guestion is whether an attorney’s representation amounted to incompetence under ‘prevailing
professional norms,’” not whether it deviated from best practices or most common custom.”

Harrington v. Richter, 131 S. Ct. 770, 788 (2011) (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690).

We conclude that sentencing counsel’s failure to advise the court of the option of, and
advocate for, a series of shorter, consecutive sentences that would trigger only discretionary
deportation rather than mandatory deportation, see n.3, supra, does not constitute constitutional
ineffectiveness. At our hearing on April 7, 2011, sentencing counsel testified that, at the time of
Randazzo’ s sentencing, he was not aware that Randazzo could avoid mandatory deportation if the
court structured his sentence differently. (N.T. 4/7/11 at 27-28, 38-39.) Rather, he believed that

deportation was essentially a foregone conclusion of Randazzo’s conviction. (Seeid. at 25-26.)
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That said, not beingwell-versed in the complex areaof immigration |aw, sentencing counsel advised
Randazzo to consult with an immigration lawyer whom counsel recommended. (ld. at 25, 34, 44.)
Randazzo, in fact, consulted with the recommended immigration lawyer. (Id. at 35.) Sentencing
counsel subsequently learned, either in a conversation with the immigration attorney or through a
report from Randazzo, that the immigration lawyer also understood deportation to be the likely
consequenceof Randazzo’ sconviction. (Id. at 35-36, 43, 45-46, 48.) Thereafter, sentencing counsel
did not argue to the court that Randazzo’'s sentence should be structured in a way to make
deportation discretionary rather than mandatory, and did not correct the Government’s remark at
sentencing that it was ” questionable” whether Randazzo would be deported. (SeeN.T. 11/27/07 at
80-81.) Rather, he argued to the court that Randazzo’s expected deportation was a mitigating
circumstance that the court should consider in sentencing. (Id. at 76; seealsoN.T. 4/7/11 at 36-38.)

Under these circumstances, counsel’ s performance was not “ unreasonable under prevailing
professional standards,” and did not “f[a]ll below an objective standard of reasonableness.”
Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688, 694. To the contrary, it was well within the scope of counsel’s
reasonabl e professional judgment to advise Randazzo that he likely faced deportation and then to
refer him to immigration counsel for further advice regarding the deportation consequences of his
plea. Asthe United States Supreme Court recently recognized: “Immigration law can be complex,
and it isalegal specialty of itsown.” Padilla, 130 S. Ct. at 1483. As such, “when the law is not
succinct and straightforward . . . , acriminal defense attorney [representing a defendant at a guilty

plea hearing] need do no more than advise a noncitizen that pending charges may carry arisk of
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adverseimmigration consequences.”® 1d. (footnote omitted). Where, as here, both pleacounsel and
sentencing counsel correctly advised Randazzo that deportation was the likely result of his
conviction, and sentencing counsel exercised his professional judgment to refer Randazzo to an
immigration expert for any further questions regarding the intricacies of immigration and
deportation, sentencing counsel clearly satisfied his professional obligations. Accordingly,
Randazzo’ s claim that counsel was ineffective for failing to advise him regarding the immigration
benefits of a series of shorter, consecutive sentences, and failing to advocate for such a structured
sentence, has no merit.
2. Misapprehension of Factsand L aw

Randazzo also claimsthat hissentenceviolated due processbecausewe sentenced him under
amisapprehension of the law and facts concerning the immigration consegquences of the conviction
and sentence. Specifically, hearguesthat wedid not fully understand that our sentence would result
in the very significant consequence of deportation. (Def.’s Mem. at 9 (arguing that we
mi sapprehended “ the significant immigrati on consequencesto the defendant which resulted not only
from the length but [also] from the structure of the sentence.”)). He maintains that our

misapprehension in this regard resulted from the United States Attorney’s “inaccurate and

8Randazzo takes the position that the law is succinct and straightforward concerning the
circumstancesin which atheft offense constitutes an aggravated fel ony, including the principle that
“if the sentence on each count [was less than one year], defendant’ s conviction would not qualify
asan ‘aggravated felony.”” Shaw, 2004 WL 1858336, at *11. He therefore takes the position that
sentencing counsel should have known to request a structured sentence in which no single count
carried a sentence of ayear or more. However, Randazzo hasidentified only asingle, unpublished
district court case in which this allegedly succinct and straightforward principle has been stated and
applied. Seeid. Moreover, that same caseisthe only case that Randazzo has cited in which a court
imposed a structured sentence such as the one he requests here as a means to avoid mandatory
deportation. Under these circumstances, and given the overall complexity of immigration law, we
find that this law on which Randazzo relies is neither succinct nor straightforward.
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misleading” representation to the Court that deportation would not necessarily result from
Randazzo’ santi cipated sentence, and sentencing counsel’ sfailureto correct thismisstatement of fact
and law. (Def.’sMem. at 9; N.T. 11/27/07 at 80-81.)

“[1t is beyond dispute that a sentencing cal culation may violate the due process clause of
the Fifth Amendment if thereisapossibility that the sentenceimposed may have been based on legal

and/or factual error.” United Statesv. Mannino, 212 F.3d 835, 846 (3d Cir. 2000) (citationsomitted)

In addition, “due process may require resentencing when the information on which the sentencing

court may haverelied. . . ismistaken or unreliable.” United Statesv. Katzin, 824 F.2d 234, 240 (3d

Cir. 1987) (citing Moore v. United States, 571 F.2d 179, 183-84 & n. 7 (3d Cir.1978)).

Here, however, we did not base our sentence on legal or factual error, or on mistaken or
unreliableinformation. Contrary to Randazzo’ sassertion, wein noway relied on the Government’s
representation that Randazzo was unlikely to be deported on account of his conviction and sentence.
Rather, we accepted the facts and law in this regard as stated by Randazzo’'s counsel -- that
Defendant “almost definitely will be deported as a result of his guilty plea, and the sentence. . .
impose[d] ....” (N.T.11/27/07, at 76.) With that full and correct understanding, we imposed a
forty-one month sentence on each count of the Indictment, to run concurrently. Accordingly, we
correctly understood that Randazzo would likely be deported as a result of his conviction and
sentence, and imposed aGuidelines sentencewith full knowledge of that fact. Randazzo’ sclaimthat
we imposed the sentence based on a misapprehension of the deportation consequences of our
sentence is therefore meritless.

3. I neffectiveness of Sentencing Counsel in Failing to Appeal

Finally, Randazzo argues that counsel was ineffective in failing to advise Randazzo that he
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had theright to appeal his sentence on due process grounds because the sentence wasimposed under
amisapprehension of the applicablefactsand law. However, as explained above, thereis no merit
to the due process claim that Randazzo believes he should have raised on appeal. Accordingly,

counsel was not ineffective in failing to advise Randazzo to raise that claim on direct appeal. See,

€.q., United Statesv. Sanders, 165 F.3d 248, 253 (3d Cir. 1999) (“ There can be no Sixth Amendment
deprivation of effective counsel based on an attorney’s failure to raise a meritless argument.”).

Counsel’ s conduct infailing to advise Randazzo to raise that claim on appeal isaso not ineffective

in light of Randazzo’ s knowing and voluntary appellate waiver. See, e.q., United Statesv. Mabry,
536 F.3d 231, 242 n.14 (3d Cir. 2008) (“[O]newould wonder how counsel’ sfailuretofileanotice
of appeal could be considered ‘ outside thewiderange of professionally competent assistance,’ if the
right to appeal had been knowingly and voluntarily waived.” (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690)).
Accordingly, we find no merit in Randazzo’s claim that his counsel was ineffective in failing to
advise him to file adirect appeal on due process grounds.
IV. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, we enforce Randazzo’ s collateral attack waiver in his Guilty Plea
agreement and deny Randazzo’s Motion to Vacate Sentence pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2255. An
appropriate Order follows.

BY THE COURT:

/s/ John R. Padova, J.

John R. Padova, J.



IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA ) CIVIL ACTION NO. 11-2411
V.
GIACOMO RANDAZZO CRIMINAL ACTION NO. 06-288
ORDER

AND NOW, this 6th day of May, 2011, upon consideration of Defendant Giacomo
Randazzo’'s Motion to Vacate Sentence pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 8§ 2255 (Docket No. 63), and all
attendant and responsive briefing, and after hearings on March 29, 2011 and April 7, 1011, and for
the reasons stated in the accompanying Memorandum, IT ISHEREBY ORDERED asfollows:

1. Defendant’s Motion to Vacate Sentence is DENIED.

2. Because Defendant has failed to make a substantial showing of the denia of a

constitutional right, thereisno basisfor the issuance of acertificate of appealability.

3. The Clerk is directed to CLOSE Civil Action No. 11-2411.

BY THE COURT:

S/ JOHN R. PADOVA
John R. Padova, J.
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